Marital Status, Gender, and Differences in Social Security Benefit Amounts

by

Jamie Wolfelt

Master of Public Health, California Baptist University, 2019

Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Master of Public Health

California Baptist University

August 2019

The College of Health Science California Baptist University

Riverside, California

This is to certify that the Master's Thesis of

Jamie Wolfelt

has met the thesis requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health

Approved by:

Ashley Parks, OrPH Assistant Professor Committee Chair

Melissa Wigginton, DPH

Professor

Committee Member

Lindsay Fahnestock, DrPH

indsay Jahnesterk

Assistant Professor Committee Member

Abstract

Older Americans are a vulnerable population, and the introduction of Social Security's Old Age and Survivor's Insurance (OASI) has protected the majority of aged Americans from falling below the poverty line (Arno, House, Viola, & Schechter, 2011). With literature supporting the changing dynamics of the American family and changing trends in eligibility factors to Social Security entitlements, it is important to understand any differences among groups to identify inequalities and vulnerabilities in old age. Using data from the Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) 2014 Panel Wave 2, this study examined marital status, gender, and differing Social Security benefit amounts for participants aged 62 and older who were entitled to an OASI program. Entitlement to OASI benefits, as well as the benefit amount, depends on a variety of factors including lifetime earnings, marital status, and age. The results indicated there is no statistically significant difference in monthly Social Security benefit amounts among marital categories (F(5,144) = 1.365, p = .241). Gender is not a factor for eligibility to Social Security entitlements; however, this study revealed women encounter greater economic insecurities in old age as their Social Security benefit amounts are significantly lower compared to men (t(148) = 5.454, p < .001). The results of this study are consistent with recent literature suggesting Social Security benefit amounts do not differ by marital status and that women are more disadvantaged in Social Security entitlements then men. *Key Words: Social Security, gender, marital status, retirement age, eligibility*

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my thesis chair Dr. Ashley Parks for her patience, support, and guidance throughout this research project. Furthermore, I would like to express my gratitude to my committee members Dr. Lindsay Fahnestock and Dr. Melissa Wigginton for their valuable advice throughout this study. In addition, I would like to thank all the faculty members from California Baptist University's Public Health department for taking part in my educational experience and providing me with the tools needed to successfully complete my thesis.

I would like to acknowledge all my fellow classmates, especially Shanice Hunt and Rebecca Ruiz, who provided encouragement and friendly support throughout this process. Furthermore, I thank my beloved parents for their untiring and unconditional love – my mother for her endless support and my father for his spiritual guidance. A special thanks goes to my husband for his unfailing love, support, and belief in me. Above all, I express my thanks to Almighty GOD for granting me His grace – through the Lord and Savior Jesus Christ all things are possible.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	ii
Review of Literature	1
Introduction	1
The Social Security Act	1
Marital Trends and Social Security Benefits	3
Gender and Social Security Benefits	5
Research Questions	6
Research Hypotheses	7
Methods	8
Design	8
Procedures	8
Participants	9
Independent Variables	10
Dependent Variable	11
Data Analysis	11
Results	
Demographics	
Major Findings	
Discussion	
Summary of Major Findings	
Public Health Implications	17
Study Limitations	18
References	20
Appendix A	23

List of Tables

Table 1. Participant Demographics	23
Table 2. One-way ANOVA of Monthly Social Security Benefit Amounts by Marital	
Status	24
Table 3. Independent Samples T-Test of Monthly Social Security Benefit Amounts by	
Gender	25

Review of Literature

Introduction

The Social Security Act, signed in by President Roosevelt in 1935, has played a significant role in keeping aged Americans out of poverty (Social Security Administration, 2000). Although Social Security benefits only account for a portion of one's income at retirement, and are intended to supplement pensions and savings, the entitlements are still a major source of income for the aged population and an important measure of economic security (Karamcheva, Wu, & Munnell, 2015). According to Arno, House, Viola, and Schechter (2011), the implementation of Social Security was the most effective program introduced in the United States to combat poverty, especially for the elderly population. In addition, Arno et al. (2011) found that the introduction of Social Security significantly benefited the socioeconomic status and health of older Americans. When the Social Security Act was signed in 1935, the country was a much different place, and with the turn of the millennium behind us, it is important to examine these policies and their application towards the changed dynamics of contemporary American society.

The Social Security Act

To address the changing American dynamics in relation to Social Security entitlements, it is necessary to understand how one becomes entitled to Social Security and how the benefits are calculated (Karamcheva et al., 2015). Social Security benefits are continuous payments and funded through payroll taxes contributed to a dedicated trust (Social Security Administration, 2000). The introduction of these benefits presented the government with the overwhelming task

of tracking a worker's earnings over time to calculate a monthly benefit at retirement age (Social Security Administration, 2000). This process, known as enumeration, assigned a social security number to every American and legal alien with the purpose of tracking the incomes from which they paid into social security tax over their lifetimes (Social Security Administration, 2000).

Spouse and Child Benefits. While many major changes have taken place amending the Social Security Act, much of the program's premise remains the same. In 1939, two major changes were introduced, and entitled the spouse and minor children of a worker, also known as auxiliaries, to payable benefits (Social Security Administration, 2000). These changes came about during an era where many women stayed home and tended to children rather than work. The amendments of 1939 allowed a spouse of a retired worker to apply for auxiliary benefits, at retirement age, equal to up to 50% of the benefit amount of the retired worker (Social Security Administration, 2000). Auxiliary benefits are also payable to the minor children of retired workers who may receive up to 50% of the retired worker's benefit amount until a family maximum is reached (Social Security Administration, 2000).

Survivor Benefits. The second major addition to the Social Security Act in 1939 was the inclusion of survivor's benefits (Social Security Administration, 2000). The amendment awarded benefits to the surviving spouse at age 60, to a surviving parent (at any age) of a deceased worker's child until the child's 16th birthday, and to surviving minor children (Social Security Administration, 2000). Survivor's benefits typically equal the full amount of the worker's retirement benefit but may be reduced depending on the age of the widow, whether the worker was entitled to reduced

benefits at the time of his or her death, and a maximum family benefit amount (Social Security Administration, 2000). In addition, if the spouse of a retired worker had not reached full retirement age but was caring for a minor child, the spouse may be entitled to a child in care benefit until the child's 16th birthday (Social Security Administration, 2000). Surviving auxiliaries are also subject to a family maximum determined by the deceased worker's benefit amount (Social Security Administration, 2000).

Disability Benefits and Medicare. Many significant amendments were introduced to the Social Security Act during the mid-20th century, including the introduction of Cost of Living Increases, also known as COLAs. These increases were used to raise the amount of an individual's benefit on an almost yearly basis to adjust for the rising cost of living and the increasing value of the American dollar over time (Social Security Administration, 2000). In 1956, another important amendment included benefits for disabled workers and disabled adult children (Social Security Administration, 2000). The addition of disability benefits allowed workers to collect benefits due to his or her inability to continue working due to illnesses or injuries suspected to last longer than one year (Social Security Administration, 2000). Furthermore, President Lyndon Johnson signed the Medicare Bill in 1965, which provided health care coverage to retired and disabled workers funded through payroll taxes and monthly premiums (Social Security Administration, 2000).

Marital Trends and Social Security Benefits

Despite the several amendments and additions to the Social Security Act, much of the program is based upon the ideals of the early to mid-20th century. During

the 1970s, divorce rates in the country reached an all-time high, meaning individuals had a higher probability of being divorced at retirement age (Tamborini, 2007). In addition, as marital status is used to establish entitlement to Social Security benefits, changes in marital trends influence Social Security entitlements (Tamborini et al., 2009). With changing marital trends and continuing increases in divorce rates, researchers have found a decline in eligibility to auxiliary benefits as these benefits come with a 10-year length of marriage requirement for divorced spouses, and recent cohorts are more likely to have never been married or not meet the length of marriage requirements of previous cohorts (Tamborini et al., 2009).

Recent literature has addressed marital status as an important indicator of financial health in the aged population (Couch, Tamborini, & Reznik, 2015). Among the married and unmarried, Couch, Reznik, Tamborini, and Iams (2017) observed that the unmarried are more likely to experience financial insecurity, have fewer resources, and rely on public assistance compared to married individuals. Bridges and Gesumaria (2016) detailed that among the unmarried aged population, widows are most likely to experience the highest rates of poverty. Furthermore, addressing changing dynamics of the American family, Tamborini (2007) projected that the unmarried population, grouped together as widowed, divorced, and never married, will continue to be more disadvantaged than their married counterparts despite projected declines in eligibility to auxiliary benefits due to increased female participation in the labor force.

Most recent literature addressing marital status as an indicator of financial security in the aged remains the same and considers only the current marital status of

study participants. A recent shift in research can be observed, however, as more recent studies have begun to observe complete marital biographies of participants in comparison to previous literature, which only addressed one's current marital status. Lin et al. (2017) observed no significant differences in benefit amounts when taking consideration of marital biographies among the married population, such as first marriages or any remarriages. However, while most literature has suggested that widows and widowers are the most disadvantaged population, Lin et al. (2017) indicated that through consideration of marital biography, those who divorce later in life are the most financially insecure. According to Wu et al. (2013), marital status accounts for a small percentage in changes to retirement rates while the role of females in the workplace has been a much larger contributor to changing Social Security entitlement trends in recent cohorts.

Gender and Social Security Benefits

In the literature, among the female population, widows were indicated to be the most disadvantaged group economically, and in the male population, individuals who never married were revealed to be most disadvantaged (Lin & Brown, 2012). In addition, women were more likely to be unmarried compared to men (Lin & Brown, 2012). Despite women's greater likelihood to be unmarried in old age, nearly two-thirds of women receiving Social Security benefits are entitled to benefits on behalf of a spouse (Meyer, Wolf, & Himes, 2006). Entitlement to a spousal benefit suggests that a woman's lifetime earnings did not compute a retirement benefit amount higher than that of her spouse's benefit, which equals 50% of her husband's retirement benefit. Tamborini et al. (2009) suggested more than half of females who received

aged benefits in 2007 became entitled on behalf of a current or former spouse, suggesting that a woman's marital status may be more beneficial to financial stability in retirement than her employment history.

Idbatt (2014) addressed financial inequalities for aged women's Social Security entitlements and how these disparities may be attributed to the female role of family support for children as well as ill or elderly family members. In recent decades, more women have pursued education and become high ranking and contributing members of the workforce than in the past, yielding better Social Security retirement benefits on their own (Wu et al., 2013). Changes in female work and marriage trends have led researchers to believe there will be an impact on retirement income (Wu et al., 2013).

Purpose of the Study

Social Security entitlements serve a significant role in the health and well-being of older Americans such as access to healthcare and reduced situations of poverty, and it is important to understand the changing dynamics of these entitlements over time (Arno et al., 2011). The purpose of this study was to identify differences in average monthly Social Security benefit amounts for specific groups aged 62 and older. For this study, marital status and gender were examined to determine if certain groups may have greater risk of financial insecurity in old age.

Research Questions

For this study, two research questions were addressed to identify differences in Social Security benefit amounts in the American population aged 62 and older. The research questions are:

- 1. Is there a statistically significant difference in average monthly Social Security benefit amounts by marital status (married-spouse present, married-spouse absent, widowed, divorced, separated, and never married) for those 62 and over?
- 2. Is there a statistically significant difference in average monthly Social Security benefits amounts for males and females aged 62 and over?

Research Hypotheses

For this study, two sets of hypotheses were produced in response to the research questions. The hypotheses are:

H₁: There is a significant difference in average monthly Social Security benefit amounts for individuals aged 62 and older by marital status.

H₀: There is no significant difference in average monthly Social Security benefit amounts for individuals aged 62 and older by marital status.

H₁: There is a significant difference in average monthly Social Security benefit amounts for males and females aged 62 and older.

H₀: There is no significant difference in average monthly Social Security benefit amounts for males and females aged 62 and older.

Methods

Design

Secondary data from the United States Census Bureau's Survey of Income and Program Participation (SIPP) 2014 Panel Wave 2 was used to answer the research questions presented in this study. The survey consists of continuous, nationally representative panels interviewed across the span of about four years (United States Census Bureau, 2018). SIPP is commonly used to address the effectiveness of public assistance programs and was appropriate for this study due to its defining focus on changes in economic well-being over time (United States Census Bureau, 2018).

Procedures

Beginning in February 2014, SIPP surveys were collected from around 53,000 households, and each household was interviewed four times over the course of four years (United States Census Bureau, 2018). Survey interviews were conducted through a personal visit to the household or by a decentralized method such as reaching out to the household by telephone (United States Census Bureau, 2018). Data was collected from households across all 50 states, and the selected households for the sample were determined to be representative of their respective counties (United States Census Bureau, 2018). Within each household, all members aged 15 and older were asked to participate in the survey (United States Census Bureau, 2018). If someone from the household was not available to participate and provide responses, another household member was asked to provide answers as if they were the unavailable person (United States Census Bureau, 2018).

From the SIPP dataset, cases were selected on the criteria that the participants answered yes to one of the following survey questions: "Did ... receive a Social Security benefit because he/she is retired?," "Did ... receive Social Security Benefits because he/she is widowed?," or "Did ... receive Social Security Benefits from their spouse?" All other cases from the dataset were excluded (United States Census Bureau, 2018). The survey questions were asked by the interviewer who visited or called the household recorded the participants' responses. In addition, participants younger than 62 were also excluded for the purposes of this study, leaving a total of 98,892 participants. One thousand five hundred seventy-two of the selected participants failed to answer the survey question measuring marital status, and the responses are reported as missing. By chance, none of these cases were included in the random sample for analysis.

Participants

While the sample for this study only included individuals 62 and over, household members aged 15 and older were interviewed for the SIPP and responses were self-reported (United States Census Bureau, 2018). If a member of the household was unavailable for interview, responses for that individual were collected by proxy such as another family member in the household (United States Census Bureau, 2018). The SIPP collected information from a sample of 676,105 participants among the 53,000 households (United States Census Bureau, 2018).

The sample size used to identify differences by marital status was drawn using G*Power Software, Version 3.1.92, with a medium effect size of .3, an alpha level of .05, and a power of 80%, which determined a sample size of 150 participants

(Heinrich-Heine, 2019). A random sample was drawn three times and was determined to have similar characteristics of the overall sample. The random sample of 150 participants used for this study consisted of individuals aged 62 and older who received either a retirement, survivor's, or spousal benefit from Social Security and fell into the category of married with spouse present (N = 74), married with spouse absent (N = 2), widowed (N = 41), divorced (N = 16), separated (N = 6), or never married (N = 11).

The sample size used to identify differences in monthly Social Security benefit amounts by gender was drawn using G*Power Software, Version 3.1.92, with a medium effect size of .5, an alpha level of .05, and a power of 80%, which provided a sample size of 128 participants (Heinrich-Heine, 2019). The initial random sample of 150 participants was enough to produce accurate results for the second analysis. The random sample of 150 participants used for this study consisted of males (N = 68) and females (N = 82) aged 62 and older whom received either a retirement, survivor's, or spousal benefit from the Social Security Administration.

Independent Variables

For this study, two independent variables were examined (marital status and gender), and each variable had a corresponding survey question for measurements on the 2014 SIPP dataset. The independent variable of marital status was measured using the following question from the 2014 survey: "Is person currently married, widowed, divorced, separated, or never married?" Individuals who responded as married with spouse present were coded as "1," married with spouse absent coded as "2," widowed coded as "3," divorced coded as "4," separated coded as "5," and never married

coded as "6." Of the participants examined for the purpose of this study, 1,572 participants failed to answer the survey question measuring marital status, and the responses are reported as missing. By chance, none of these cases were included in the random sample for the ANOVA.

The independent variable of gender was measured using the following question from the 2014 survey: "Sex of this person?" Responses to this question were coded into two different categories with male response coded as "1" and female response coded as "2." Of the participants examined within this study, none failed to answer the survey question relating to gender.

Dependent Variable

For this study, there was one dependent variable observed from the SIPP 2014 dataset and was measured by the following question on the survey: "How much did ... receive in Social Security benefit payment in this month?" Responses of the Social Security monthly benefit amount in US dollars were coded as the equivalent number. Of the participants examined for the purpose of this study, none failed to answer the survey question relating to monthly Social Security Benefit amount.

Data Analysis

The 2014 SIPP dataset is provided by the United States Census Bureau and made available for public use as the data is de-identified. Data from the 2014 SIPP was analyzed using SPSS version 24.0. For the first research question, the analysis consisted of a one-way ANOVA as it was the appropriate statistical test to determine differences in mean Social Security benefit amount by marital status. To evaluate the second research question, an independent samples t-test was calculated as it was the

appropriate statistical test to determine differences in mean Social Security benefit amounts for males and females. In addition, frequencies were completed to examine demographics of the sample and marital status categories.

Results

Demographics

The random sample drawn from the 2014 SIPP dataset (N = 150) was comprised of individuals aged 62 and older who received either a retirement, survivor's, or spousal benefit from the Social Security Administration. The sample was 46.0% male and 54.0% female. Participants aged 62-66 made up 16.7% of the sample, while those aged 67-70 comprised 22.6% of the sample, and those over age 71 accounted for 60.7% of the sample. In addition, the sample was comprised of mostly individuals who were White Only (87.3%) followed by Black Only (9.3%), Asian Only (2%), and Multiple Races (1.3%). Participants had varying levels of education; 34.7% of the participants had a high school degree or equivalent, 22.0% of the participants had some college education, and 16.0% of the participants had a Bachelor's degree. (See Table 1.)

Major Findings

The mean monthly Social Security benefit amount for individuals who were either married (spouse present), married (spouse absent), widowed, divorced, separated, or never married were compared using a one-way ANOVA. No significant difference was found in mean Social Security benefit amounts across marital status categories (F(5,144) = 1.365, p > .05) (see Table 2.). The Social Security benefit amounts did not differ significantly by marital status. Individuals who were married with spouse present had a mean Social Security benefit amount of \$1,258.16 (sd = 656.00). Individuals who were married with spouse absent had a mean Social Security benefit amount of \$1,560.00 (sd = 721.25). Individuals who were widowed

had a mean Social Security Benefit amount of \$1,239.66 (sd = 723.96). Individuals who were divorced had a mean Social Security Benefit amount of \$1,267.31 (sd = 563.45). Individuals who were separated had a mean Social Security Benefit amount of \$1,164.00 (sd = 383.41). Individuals who never married had a mean Social Security Benefit amount of \$1,784.09 (sd = 857.73). It was not necessary to examine the differences between subjects as no statistical significance was found.

An independent samples t-test comparing the mean Social Security benefit amounts of males and females found a significant difference between the means of the two groups (t(148) = 5.454, p < .001) (see Table 3). The mean Social Security benefit amounts of females was significantly lower (M = \$1,040.66 sd = 612.82) than the mean Social Security benefit amounts of males (M = \$1,597.09, sd = 633.05). Women have lower monthly Social Security benefit amounts than men.

Discussion

Summary of Major Findings

The 2014 panel of the Survey of Income and Program Participation dataset was used to analyze monthly Social Security benefit amounts across marital status categories. The first analysis examined the differences in monthly Social Security benefit amounts among individuals within the categories of married, unmarried, and never married. A one-way ANOVA was performed that showed no statistically significant differences, failing to reject the null hypothesis that monthly Social Security benefit amounts do not differ by marital status for those aged 62 and older.

The results from the first analysis differ from most previous research regarding Social Security income in old age when observing the impact of marital status. For example, the average monthly benefit amount for widows did not significantly differ from other marriage categories whereas previous research suggested that widows are the most disadvantaged marital status group. However, the use of a simple random sample that contained a varying number of respondents in each group could account for an inability to capture the differences between them. The results from the research conducted by Lin et al. (2017) were similar to the results of this research study as they suggested there are no statistical differences among marriage categories. However, when Lin et al. (2017) considered complete marital biographies of participants, it was noted that individuals who divorced later in life were the most disadvantaged group.

The 2014 panel of the SIPP dataset was used to analyze monthly Social Security benefit amounts between males and females. The second analysis examined

the differences in monthly Social Security benefit amounts among males and females. An independent samples t-test was performed, which showed a statistically significant difference, rejecting the null hypothesis that monthly Social Security benefit amounts do not differ by gender for those aged 62 and older.

The results from the second analysis mirror previous literature that observed impact of gender on Social Security benefit amounts. Most previous literature on the subject suggested that women are more disadvantaged compared to males regarding Social Security benefit amounts. In addition, previous literature suggested that female widows are the most disadvantaged group; however, it is possible that widows actually fare better in regards to Social Security benefit amounts because widows are entitled to at least 82.5% or more of the full amount of their husbands' Social Security benefit computation and males are more likely to have higher benefit amounts than females.

Tamborini et al. (2009) mentioned that most females who received Social Security benefits after age 62 became entitled to benefits on behalf of their current or former spouse. Idbatt (2014) discussed how women are disadvantaged when it comes to Social Security entitlements and suggested that these disparities may be attributed to the female role of family support for children as well as ill or elderly family members. Even though females can become entitled to a higher Social Security benefit amount if her retirement benefit falls short of her spousal benefit amount, it does not fill the gap in Social Security benefit amounts when compared to men.

Public Health Implications

Social Security benefits serve a major role in keeping aged Americans out of poverty – a vital issue since the aged population is a vulnerable one. The Old Age and Survivor's Insurance (OASI) benefit programs through the Social Security Administration have continued to be the most successful anti-poverty programs in the United States. Recent research has identified significant changes in eligibility status of females. Wu et al. (2013) discussed the changing trends of female Social Security benefits as a result of their increased workforce participation and retreat from marriage. An increase in workforce participation, education, and higher paying jobs led to an increase in Social Security contributions and in turn, higher Social Security retirement benefits and decreased eligibility for survivor's and spousal benefits.

Marital status continues to be a major factor for entitlement to Social Security OASI benefit programs; however, recent literature suggests that marital status does not have a significant impact on benefit amount and the number of individuals who meet the requirements for spousal and survivor's benefits are declining. Changing trends in eligibility requirements may introduce a need for change in public policies of Social Security entitlements that better suit the dynamics of today's American culture.

Couch et al. (2017) recently examined different policy changes and their potential effects on Social Security benefits in response to changing eligibility trends for females. Couch et al., (2017) suggested that reducing the 10-year marriage requirement would allow for more females to become eligible for potentially higher Social Security benefits as a spouse. The policy implications address the declining

eligibility to auxiliary benefits for females relating to trends of retreat from marriage; however, the implications do address trends of ineligibility to auxiliary benefits as a result of increased participation in the workforce.

It could be suggested that due to the insignificant impact of marital status on Social Security benefit amounts, other factors should be introduced into the computations of Social Security benefits. For example, if a female has reduced lifetime earnings due to childbirth and childcare or care for an ill or elderly family member, those years should be removed from the Social Security benefit computation to result in a higher benefit amount for her own retirement. In addition, it could be suggested that rather than becoming entitled through the work history of a spouse, the earnings from both spouses during years of marriage (up to the designated maximum) may be combined and added to the earnings records of both spouses to promote higher retirement benefits and reduced or eliminated need for spousal and survivor's programs.

Study Limitations

This study introduced several limitations. The 2014 SIPP is a longitudinal study, and some of the participants may have moved and become unavailable for repeated contacts, causing a loss of information and missing data in the sample (United States Census Bureau, 2018). Missing data could be observed in the sample for the purpose of this study as missing data was reported for the survey question relating to marital status. In addition, the Census Bureau uses a two-stage sample design that is not considered a simple sample and may result in some standard errors (United States Census Bureau, 2018). The Census Bureau admits that some lower

income households may have been oversampled (United States Census Bureau, 2018).

Another strong limitation for this study was the use of a simple random sample that contained a varying number of respondents in each group, which could account for an inability to capture differences between groups. Furthermore, the study used data that was self-reported, and when the participants were unavailable to provide a response, someone else in the household answered as a proxy leading to potential bias of responses. In contrast, one of the strengths of this study is the continuous panel design, which reduced recall bias as participants only needed to recall events in the last one to four months (United States Census Bureau, 2018).

Conclusion

Going forward, studies focused on changing trends in eligibility factors of OASI benefits for females would benefit the research community. The Social Security Act is a successful anti-poverty program for the United States, and it is important to document the changing demographics and eligibility factors of Americans because much has changed since its introduction in 1935. Examining trends for American females could provide useful insight and implications for policy change that can help close the existing gap regarding Social Security benefit amounts for women. In addition, making continuous improvements to the Social Security Act will allow its programs to have continued success in keeping vulnerable populations out of poverty.

References

- Arno, P. S., House, J. S., Schechter, C., & Viola, D. (2011). Social Security and mortality: The role of income support policies and population health in the United States. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, *32*(2), 234. Retrieved July 10, 2019 from https://search-ebscohost-com.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsjsr&AN=edsjs r.20868804&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Bridges, B., & Gesumaria, R. V. (2016). Poverty status of Social Security

 beneficiaries by type of benefit. *Social Security Bulletin*, (Issue 4), 19.

 Retrieved March 2, 2019 from

 http://libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp

 x?direct=true&db=edshol&AN=edshol.hein.journals.ssbul76.18&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Couch, K. A., Reznik, G. L., Tamborini, C. R., & Iams, H. M. (2017). The distributional impact of social security policy options: An analysis of divorced and widowed women. *Research on Aging*, *39*(1), 135–165. https://doiorg.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/10.1177/0164027516656140
- Couch, K. A., Tamborini, C. R., & Reznik, G. L. (2015). The long-term health implications of marital disruption: Divorce, work limits, and Social Security Disability Benefits among men. *Demography Chicago then Washington the Silver Spring*, (5), 1487. Retrieved March 10, 2019 from http://libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=edsbl&AN=RN373602125&site=eds-live&scope=site

- Goldblatt, B. (2014). Gender, poverty and the development of the right to Social Security. *International Journal of Law in Context*, (Issue 4), 460. Retrieved March 7, 2019 from http://libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=edshol&AN=edshol.hein.journals.injwcext10.36&site=edslive&scope=site
- Heinrich-Heine. (2019). G*Power: Statistical Power Analyses for Windows and Mac. Retrieved from http://www.gpower.hhu.de/en.html
- Karamcheva, N. S., Wu, A. Y., & Munnell, A. (2015). Does Social Security continue to favor couples? *Center for Retirement Research*, Working Paper No. 2015-11. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2625768
- Lin, I. F., & Brown, S. L. (2012). Unmarried Boomers confront old age: A national portrait. *Gerontologist*, *52*(2), 153–165. Retrieved March 14, 2019 from http://libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.asp x?direct=true&db=eric&AN=EJ959475&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Lin, I. F., Brown, S. L., & Hammersmith, A. M. (2017). Marital biography, Social Security receipt, and poverty. *Research on Aging*, *39*(1), 86–110. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027516656139
- Meyer, M. H., Wolf, D. A., & Himes, C. L. (2006). Declining eligibility for Social Security spouse and widow benefits in the United States? *Research on Aging*, 28(2), 240–260. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027505284166
- Social Security Administration. (2000). A brief history of Social Security: Issued on Social Security's 65th anniversary. Retrieved March 10, 2019 from

- https://search-ebscohost-com.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=edsgpr&AN=edsgpr. 000525850&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Tamborini, C. R. (2007). The never-married in old age: Projections and concerns for the near future. *Social Security Bulletin*, *67*(2), 25–40. Retrieved March 7, 2019 from https://search-ebscohost-com.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=32533 494&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Tamborini, C. R., Iams, H. M., & Whitman, K. (2009). Marital history, race, and social security spouse and widow benefit eligibility in the United States. *Research on Aging*, 31(5), 577–605. https://doi-org.libproxy.calbaptist.edu/10.1177/0164027509337196
- United States Census Bureau. (2018). Survey of Income and Program Participation.

 Retrieved April 6, 2019 from https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/sipp/data/2014-panel/ssa.html
- Wu, A., Karamcheva, N. S., Munnell, A. H., & Purcell, P. J. (2013). How do trends in women's labor force activity and marriage patterns affect social security replacement rates. *Social Security Bulletin*, 73(4), 1-24.

Appendix A

Table 1.

Participant Demographics

		N	Percent
Gender	Male	69	46.0
	Female	81	54.0
Age	62-66	25	16.7
	67-70	34	22.6
	71 +	91	60.7
Race & Ethnicity	White Only Black Only	131 14	87.3 9.3
	Asian Only	3	2.0
	Residual (Other)	2	1.3
Highest Level of Education	1st – 8th Grade	5	3.3
	8 th – 12 th Grade (No Diploma	16	10.7
	High School Graduate or Equivalent	52	34.7
	Some College	33	22.0
	Associate Degree	4	2.7
	Bachelor's Degree	24	16.0
	Master's Degree	10	6.7
	Doctorate or Professional School Degree	6	4.0

Source: Survey of Income of Program Participation (2014) N=150.

Table 2.

One-way ANOVA of Monthly Social Security Benefit Amounts by Marital Status

	N	Mean	SD	F	P
Marital Status				1.365	.241
Married Spouse Present	74	\$1258.16	656.00		
Married Spouse Absent	2	\$1560.00	721.25		
Widowed	41	\$1239.66	723.96		
Divorced	16	\$1267.31	563.45		
Separated	6	\$1164.00	383.41		
Never Married	11	\$1784.09	857.73		

Note. Survey of Income of Program Participation (2014). N = 150.

Table 3.

Independent Samples T-Test of Monthly Social Security Benefit Amounts by Gender

	N	Mean	SD	T	P Value
Gender				5.454	.001
Male	68	\$1597.09	633.05		
Female	82	\$1040.66	612.82		
					* $p < .05$

Note. Survey of Income of Program Participation (2014). N = 150.